
T
his column reports on sev-
eral significant representa-
tive decisions handed down 
recently in the U.S. District 
Court for the Eastern Dis-

trict of New York. Judge LaShann 
DeArcy Hall dismissed plaintiff’s 
claims under §§11 and 15 of the 
Securities Act based on alleged fail-
ures to disclose COVID-related risks. 
Judge Ann M. Donnelly granted in 
part plaintiff’s motion for summary 
judgment in an action challenging 
Nassau County’s seizure of vehicles 
on constitutional grounds. And Judge 
Hector Gonzalez held that defen-
dant’s plea waiver was unenforce-
able because the statute underlying 
the conviction had been rendered 
unconstitutional in another case.

Securities Act

In Gutman v. Lizhi, 21 CV 1850 
(EDNY, Sept. 30, 2022), Judge DeArcy 
Hall dismissed plaintiff’s claims in a 
putative class action against numer-
ous defendants for violations of §§11 
and 15 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§§77k, 77o(a), finding that disclosure 
of the impact of COVID-19 was not 
necessary at the time of defendant 
Lizhi’s filings.

Plaintiff purchased American 
Depository Shares (ADS) of defen-
dant Lizhi, a social audio platform 
for user-generated content in China. 
On Jan. 20, 2020, Lizhi filed its pro-
spectus for an initial public offering, 
which formed part of and incorpo-
rated a previously filed registration 
statement. Lizhi sold a total of 4.1 
million shares at $11.00 per share. 
Ultimately, as the COVID-19 pandem-
ic flared, Lizhi filed further reports 
with the SEC concerning the poten-
tial effects of the pandemic on its 
business. By April 20, 2020, its share 
price had dropped to $4.91. Plain-
tiff claimed that Lizhi and the other 
named defendants violated §§11 and 
15 of the Securities Act by failing to 

disclose the effects of COVID-19 on 
Lizhi’s revenues and operations in 
the registration statement.

When defendants contended that 
plaintiff lacked standing because the 
complaint did not plead facts suf-
ficient to establish injury traceable 
to the allegedly violative registra-
tion statement, plaintiff’s counsel 
proposed replacing plaintiff with 
a new plaintiff who allegedly pur-
chased the ADS at the IPO. In the 
court’s view, plaintiff had standing 
because it remained plausible that 
plaintiff purchased the shares from 
the IPO. Slip op. 6-7, n. 4.

Plaintiff’s §11 claim, however, 
was not adequately pled. Section 
11 prohibits materially misleading 
omissions in registration statements 
filed with the SEC, where there is a 
duty to disclose the omitted infor-
mation. Plaintiff relied upon two SEC 
regulations, Items 303 and 105, which 
require disclosure, respectively, of 
(a) known trends that would mate-
rially impact sales, revenues, and 
income, and (b) the most significant 
factors that would make the offering 
speculative or risky.

There was no omission or dis-
closure required under either Item 
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303 or 105 because COVID-19 was 
not a known trend or significant 
event as of the Jan. 17, 2020 IPO. 
At that time, no human-to-human 
transmission had been confirmed, 
health officials had identified only 
41 cases of viral infection, a statistic 
that appeared unremarkable at the 
time, and, based on plaintiff’s own 
sources, as of Jan. 14, 2020, COV-
ID-19 was spreading only in Wuhan. 
At the time of the IPO, “COVID-19 
was in its nascent stages, and the 
[complaint] lack[ed] any allegations 
establishing that Defendants had 
reason to know it would become 
a global pandemic,” slip op. 10, or 
allegations setting forth the material 
impact of COVID-19 on Lizhi.

Because the complaint did not 
plausibly allege that, at the time of 
the IPO, Lishi had reason to know 
of facts necessitating a disclosure 
pursuant to SEC regulations, DeArcy 
Hall dismissed plaintiff’s §11 claim. 
Plaintiff’s §15 claim, which requires 
an underlying primary violation of 
the Securities Act, failed due to the 
dismissal of the §11 claim. Slip op. 14.

 Nassau County Vehicle Seizures 
—Due Process Violation

In Santander Consumer USA v. 
County of Nassau, 20 CV 4790 (EDNY, 
Aug. 22, 2022), an action challenging 
Nassau County’s seizure of vehicles, 
Judge Donnelly granted in part plain-
tiff’s motion for summary judgment 
and denied defendant’s correspond-
ing cross-motion.

Section 8-120 of the Nassau County 
Administrative Code (NCAC 8-120) 
allows the County to immobilize and 
seize, without a warrant or hearing, 
vehicles whose owners are shown 

to have two or more outstanding 
traffic violations, whether issued 
with respect to that vehicle or oth-
erwise. A qualifying vehicle must 
first be immobilized (or “booted”) 
and, if the owner does not attempt 
to have the boot removed within 
48 hours, the vehicle may be towed 
and impounded, at which point a 
notice is sent to the vehicle owner 
and known lienholders.

Plaintiff Santander Consumer USA 
(Santander) held a lien on a vehicle 
whose owner was subject to seven 
outstanding traffic violations. In Jan-
uary 2020, having booted the vehicle 
and received no satisfaction upon 
notice to the owner, the County 
caused the vehicle to be towed by a 
non-party contractor (C&R Automo-
tive). The owner and Santander were 

sent notices by the County detailing 
how each could secure the vehicle’s 
release. If the owner did not arrange 
for the vehicle’s release Santander 
could do so, without paying the out-
standing fines, provided it released 
any claims against the County or 
C&R Automotive. The County also 
advised Santander that it “may be 
responsible for towing and storage 
fees pursuant to New York Lien Law 
§184.” Slip op. 6 (quoting notice 
letter). This last requirement was 
further to the County’s policy for 
enforcement of NCAC 8-120 (the 
Boot and Tow Policy) but was not 
authorized by the statute.

On April 3, 2020, C&R Automotive 
recorded a lien against the vehicle 
for $2,235.68. Santander brought 
suit against Nassau County in Octo-
ber 2020, alleging that enforcement 
of NCAC 8-120 through the Boot 
and Tow Policy: (1) constituted a 
deprivation of property without 
due process and an unreasonable 
seizure under federal and state law 
(Count I); and (2) violated Article I, 
§§6 and 12, of the New York State 
Constitution (Count II). Santander 
also sought a declaration that the 
County’s conduct violated the Con-
stitution (Count III).

Santander moved for summary 
judgment on Counts I and III, and 
Nassau County cross-moved for 
summary judgment seeking dis-
missal of the complaint in its entire-
ty. Donnelly granted Santander’s 
motion on Count I and left damages 
to an inquest, dismissed Count III, 
and otherwise denied the County’s 
motion.

“The Boot and Tow Policy allows 
the defendant or its contractor to 
attach conditions to the release of 
a towed vehicle and assert a lien 
against it—a vehicle in which nei-
ther has any interest—without any 
opportunity for a hearing before 
or after the deprivation …. This 
affords the plaintiff no process, let 
alone due process.” Slip op. 15-16. 
The County was responsible for 
the acts of its contractor because 
“C&R Automotive asserted the lien 
pursuant to the defendant’s admin-
istrative code and Boot and Tow 
Policy, not state law.” Slip op. 23. 
Having granted liability on Count 
I on due process grounds, Donnel-
ly found it unnecessary to reach 
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misleading omissions in registra-
tion statements filed with the SEC, 
where there is a duty to disclose 
the omitted information.



the Fourth Amendment aspect of 
Count I, which was complicated by 
Santander’s status as lienholder 
rather than vehicle owner. Slip op. 
20. Count III was dismissed because 
the declaratory relief it sought was 
redundant of the relief afforded 
under Count I. Slip op. 24-25.

 Plea Waiver Unenforceable and 
Conviction Vacated

In Scalisi v. United States, 10 CR 
0046, 16 CV 3233 (EDNY, Aug. 25, 
2022), Judge Gonzalez granted 
defendant’s §2255 petition to vacate 
his conviction for use of a firearm 
in relation to a crime of violence 
under 18 U.S.C. §924(c).

In 2012, defendant pled guilty to 
two offenses relating to an attempt-
ed robbery in Staten Island: (1) con-
spiracy to commit robbery under 
the Hobbs Act, and (2) use of a fire-
arm in relation to a crime of violence 
pursuant to §924(c). As part of his 
plea bargain, defendant executed 
a waiver, agreeing “not to file an 
appeal or otherwise challenge, by 
petition pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §2255 
or any other provision, the convic-
tion or sentence in the event that 
the Court imposes a term of impris-
onment of 106 months or below.”

In 2015, after defendant’s convic-
tion, the Supreme Court held in 
Johnson v. United States, 576 U.S. 591 
(2015), that Hobbs Act robbery is 
not a “crime of violence,” an essen-
tial element of a §924(c) conviction. 
In 2019, the Supreme Court held in 
United States v. Davis, __U.S.__, 
139 S. Ct. 2319 (2019), that §924(c)
(3)(B), which defines a “crime of 
violence,” was unconstitutionally 
vague. On the basis of these rulings, 

defendant sought to vacate his con-
viction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §2255. 
The government, in opposition, 
argued that (1) defendant waived 
his right to a collateral challenge 
of his conviction and sentence, and 
(2) conspiracy to commit Hobbs Act 
robbery is a crime of violence suf-
ficient to sustain a conviction under 
§ 924(c).

As Gonzalez observed, the 
Second Circuit has not directly 
addressed “whether a petition-
er can overcome a plea waiver 
where the statute underlying the 
conviction itself was subsequently 
found to be unconstitutional under 
Davis.” Slip op. 4. The courts within 
the Second Circuit are split on the 
issue. Those courts finding the 
waiver enforceable relied on the 

Second Circuit’s ruling in Sanford 
v. United States, 841 F.3d 578 (2d 
Cir. 2016), which held that a waiver 
is enforceable in connection with 
a challenge to the application of a 
sentence enhancement rendered 
unconstitutional by Johnson. Those 
courts finding a waiver unenforce-
able distinguished Sanford on the 
ground that it “dealt with chal-
lenges to the sentence imposed, 
rather than the basis of the con-

viction itself.” Slip op. 5 (internal 
quotation marks omitted).

Agreeing with the decisions dis-
tinguishing Sanford, Gonzalez held 
that defendant’s plea waiver was 
unenforceable because he chal-
lenged the basis for his convic-
tion as opposed to his sentencing. 
A defendant has a “fundamental, 
due process right to challenge his 
conviction under a statute that the 
Supreme Court has retroactively 
declared unconstitutional[,]”and “[i]
t is difficult to imagine a right more 
fundamental than the due process 
right implicated when a new rule 
changes the scope of the underly-
ing criminal proscription such that 
a defendant stands convicted of an 
act that the law does not make crimi-
nal.” Slip op. 6 (internal quotation 
marks omitted).

As to the merits of defendant’s 
petition, Gonzalez held that the 
“§924(c) conviction cannot stand 
upon the predicate conspiracy 
count to which [defendant] pled 
guilty” and that the “Government’s 
argument that conspiracy to com-
mit Hobbs Act robbery is a crime 
of violence sufficient to support a 
§924(c) conviction has been clearly 
rejected.” Slip. op. 7.
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As Gonzalez observed, the Second 
Circuit has not directly addressed 
“whether a petitioner can over-
come a plea waiver where the stat-
ute underlying the conviction itself 
was subsequently found to be 
unconstitutional under Davis.” Slip 
op. 4. The courts within the Second 
Circuit are split on the issue.


